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WASHINGTON, 1.C. 26
Nav 135, 2003

MEMORANDUM
TO: THE COMMISSION
THRQUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR
ROBERT J. COSTA //ijc/
DEPUTY STAFF DIRECTO
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON '
ASSISTANT STAFE]DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION
RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2002 OCTOBER
QUARTERLY REPORT

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers against which
the Commission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil money
penalties calculated at RTB for failure to file or failure to timely file the 2002 October
Quarterly Report. The first list represents committees that have paid the civil money
penalty and the second list represents those that have not paid. The committees that have
not paid have been given at least forty (40) days from the date of the Commission's RTB

finding to remit payment.

In accordance with 11 C.F.R. 111.34 and 11 C.F.R. 111.40, the Commission shall
send a final determination notice to those respondents that have either paid or noi paid the

civil money penalty.

Seven committees have filed reports after the RTB tinding where the actual level
of activity disclosed on the report results in a civil money penalty which is lower than that
assessed at RTB. Two of the committees, Friends of Ken Eggleston (AF #777) and
McCoy for Congress {AF #779) disclosed zero receipts and disbursements. thus bringing
the final civil money penalty for both commitiees to zero as well.  Three other
committees, Florida Sugar Cane League PAC (AF #742). Supporers of Engineers Local
3 Endorsed Candidates (SELEC) (AF #746) and Dan Hagood for Congress. Inc. (AF
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#790), paid the civil money penalties assessed at RTB; we will therefore issue a refund of
the difference between the amount paid and the amount assessed at final determination.

The actual level of activity and receipt date of the reports, as well
as the revised civil money penalties, are reflected on the attached lists.

RAD Recommendation

(1) Make final determinations that the political committees and their treasurers on the
attached lists {except for the committee and treasurer noted in recommendation 2)

violated 2 U.S.C. 434(2) and assess the civil meney penalties so indicated.

(3) Send the appropriate letters.
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COMMITTEES THAT HAVE PAID
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COMMITTEES THAT HAVE NOT PAID
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20463

SENSITIVE

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Thursday, May 15, 2003 4:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Tuesday, May 20, 2003 4:00
COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SMITH, THOMAS, TONER, WEINTRAUB

SUBJECT:  Administrative Fines Final Determination Recommendation
For The 2002 October Quarterly Report . Memorandum from
the Assistant Staff Director, Reports Analysis Division dated

May 15, 2003.
() | approve the recommendation(s)
() | object to the recemmendation(s)
() } approve the recommendations except those following

to which | object (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() i approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

{) | am not voting on this tally.

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

£ROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Final Determination Recommendation for
the 2002 October Quarterly Report
Administrative Fines Program:

DROBAC FOR CONGRESS, and ALBERT E
PAYNE IIX as treasurer;

HORNBERGER FOR SENATE, and JOHN X
BROWN as treasurer;

DONNA 2002 CONCRESSIONAL CAMPAIGN
COMMITTEE, and CAROL LABAN as
treasurerxr;

COMPOSITICON ROOFERS LOCAL UNION #30
POLITICAL ACTION & EDUCATION FUND, and
TOM PEDRICK as treasurer;

INDIANA BANKPAC - FEDERAL, and KERRY B
SPRADLIN as treasurer;

INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF
BOILERMAKERS BLACKSMI'THS FORGERS, and
JOHN VARDON as treasurer;

PATRIOT PAC., and Mullen, Audrey as
treasurer;

CELANESE AMERICAS CORPORATION
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and D.
Andrew Spathakis as treasukrer;
CONSERVATIVE LEADERSHIP POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and David Fenner as
treasurer;

FLORIDA SUGARR CANE LEAGUE PAC, and
Yancey IIX, F. D. ap treasurer;
INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION/PROFESSIONAL,
and DOLORES A GORCZYCA as treasurer;
SUPPORTERS OF ENGINEERS LOCAL 3
ENDORSED CANDIDATES (SELEC), and
GARLAND ROSAURO as treasurer;

CONDIT FOR CONGRESS, and Kaufman,
Stephen J. as treasurer;

BEN ALLEN FOR CONGRESS, and SANFORD
LOYD as treasurer;

ALEXA FOR CONGRESS, and CLEOPHUS
WASHINGTON as treasurer;

h_aVVVVVvvvvvVvvvvvvuuwvwwh—uvwvvvvyvvvvvvuu

AF#
AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#
AF#

AF#

718

719

721

724

725

726

735

738

739

742

743

746

755

757

759



e e §
wf COTTR TR

t“ l"‘%' i o

o

e

PIEE it

0" B

hoR A
L9 el

]

v

Dy e

Ll

Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines

May 20, 2003

HANDRAHAN FOR CONGRESS, and PATRICK
MACRORY as treasurer;

BARCIA FOR CONGRESS, and STEWART J
REID as treasurer;

BILL MARTIN CONGRESSIONAL COMMITTEE,
and TED A LITTLE asg treasurer;

TOM SAWYER COMMITTEE, and Apple,
Stanley as treasurer;

BATTLES FOR CONGRESS, and GIL BAIRD as
treasurer;

CHRISTY FERGUSON FOR CONGRESS
COMMITTEE, and KATHLEEN H REAVIS as
treasurer;

CASEY FOR CORGRESS COMMITTEE, and
RICHARD GRASSER as treasurer;

PHIL SUDAN FOR CONGRESS, and TRACY M
SUDAN as treasurer;

GERALD WILLIS FOR CONGRESS, and
willis, Frances as treasurer;

BORSKI FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE, and
Anthony Szuszczewicz as treasurer;
DAN HAGOOD FOR CONGRESS INC, and JAMES
W SARGENT as treasurer:;

HARMSEN FOR CONGRESS, and ROGER BLAINE
EVERSHED as treasurer;

N’ Ve o e e e et G ot et vt e e sl el Yl N N st Sa Nt i Tt Nmal Nt

AF#
AF#
AF#
AF#
AF#

AF#

AF#
AF#
AF#
AF#
AF#

AF#

Page

760
761
762
764
767

768

768
770
772
786
790

794
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Pederal Election Commission Page 3
Certification for Administrative Fines

May 20, 2003

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary for the Federal Election
Commigsion, do hereby certify that on May 20, 2003, the
Commission took the following actions on the Final
Determination Recommendation For The 2002 October Quarterly
Repert in the Administrative Fines Program, as recommended
in the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated May 15,

2003 on the following committees:

AF# 718: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that DROBAC FOR CONGRESS, and
ALBERT E PAYNE III ag treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively foxr the decision.

AF# 719: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that HORNBERGER FOR SENATE, and
JOHN K BROWN as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Cormissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AFH# 721: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that DONNA 2002 CONGRESSIONAL
CAMPAIGN COMMITTEE, and CAROL LABAN as treasurer,



Federal Election Commission Page 4
Certification for Administrative Fines

May 20, 2003
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violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
jetter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for

the decision.

AF# 724: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that COMPOSITION ROOFERS LOCAL
UNION #30 POLITICAL ACTION & EDUCATION FUND, and TOM
PEDRICK as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
aspess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Tomer, and Weintraub voted

affirmatively for the decision.

AFH# 725: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that INDIANA BANKPAC - FEDERAL,
and KERRY B SPRADLIN as treasurer, violated 2 U.5.C.
434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissicners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 726: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHCOD
OF BOILERMAKERS BLACKSMITHS FORGERS, and JOHN VARDON
as treasurer, violated 2 U,S.C. 434{a) and assess
the civil money penalty so¢ indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 735: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that PATRIOT PAC, and Mullen,
Audrey as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and
agssess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commisgioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.



Federal Election Commission Page 5
Certification for Administrative Fines

May 20, 2003

AF# 738: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that CELANESE AMERICAS
CORPORATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and D.

e Andrew Spathakis as treasurer, violated 2 U.s.C.

434 (a) and assessg the civil money penalty so

\ indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.

i Cormigsioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,

: and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 739: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
£inal determination that CONSERVATIVE LEADERSHIP
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and David Fenner as

. treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
el civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Al Smith, Themas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 742: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that FLORIDA SUGAR CANE LEAGUE
PAC, and Yancey III, F. D. as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 743: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that INTERNATIONAL
FEDERATION/PROFESSIONAL, and DOLORES A GORCZYCA as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 746: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that SUPPORTERS OF ENGINEERS
LOCAL 3 ENDORSED CANDIDATES (SELEC), and GARLAND
ROSAURO as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
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gsend the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 755: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that CONDIT FOR CONGRESS, and
Kaufman, Stephen J. ag treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

Y
i

M; 434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so

= indicated; {2) send the appropriate letter.

gﬁ Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Tomner,
L and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
= AF# 757: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1} make a
5 £inal determination that BEN ALLEN FOR CONGRESS, and

1 SANFORD LOYD as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a)
al and assess the c¢ivil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commiassioners Mason,

McDonald, Smith, Thomasg, Toner, and Weintraub voted

affirmatively for the decision.

AFH# 759: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that ALEXA FOR CONGRESS, and
CLEOPHUS WASHINGTON as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil momney penalty so
indicated; {(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 760: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that HANDRAHAN FOR CONGRESS, and
DATRICK MACRORY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and agsess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letterx.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 761: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
£inal determination that BARCIA FOR CONGRESS, and
STEWART J REID as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
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indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Cormissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AFP# 762: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that BILL MARTIN CONGRESSIONAL
COMMITTEE, and TED A LITTLE as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AFf# 764: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that TOM SAWYER COMMITTEE, and
Apple, Stanley as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess the civil mcney penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 767: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make &
final determination that BATTLES FOR CONGRESS, and
GIL BAIRD as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
gsend the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted

affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 768: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that CHRISTY FERGUSON FOR
CONGRESS COMMITTEE, and KATHLEEN H REAVIS as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money peralty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDorald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 769: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that CASEY FOR CONGRESS
COMMITTEE, and RICHARD GRASSER as treasurer,
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violated 2 U.8.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomag, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for

5 the decision.

52 AF# 770: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
e final determination that PHIL SUDAN FOR CONGRESS,

b and TRACY M SUDAN as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

i 434(a) and agsess the civil money penalty so

‘: indicated; {(2) send the appropriate letter.

o Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
é; and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
B

M AF# 772: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
fis final determination that GERALD WILLIS FOR CONGRESS,

and Willis, Frances as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomae, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 786: Dacided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that BORSKI FOR CONGRESS
COMMITTEE, and Anthony Szuszczewicz as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty sc indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for

the deciaion.

AF# 790: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that DAN HAGOOD FOR CONGRESS
INC, and JAMES W SARGENT as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434{a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDPonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
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AF# 794: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that HARMSEN FOR CCNGRESS, and
ROGER BLAINE EVERSHED as treasurer, vicolated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) sgend the appropriate letter.
Cormissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the deecision.

Toner,

Attest:

Moow 22 2003  Sorkina Roviig

Date / Mary W. Dove
Secretary of the Commissicn
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